
 
Tony Kershaw 
Director of Law and Assurance 
 
If calling please ask for: 
 
Jack Bacon on 033 022 25075 
Email: jack.bacon@westsussex.gov.uk 
 
www.westsussex.gov.uk 
 

 
County Hall  
Chichester 
West Sussex 
PO19 1RQ 
Switchboard  
Tel no (01243) 777100 

 
 

 
 11 November 2022 

 
Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education 
 
A meeting of the Council will be held at 10.30 am on Monday, 21 November 
2022 at County Hall, Chichester PO19 1RQ. 
 
 
Tony Kershaw 
Director of Law and Assurance 
 

 
Agenda 

 
1. Chairman’s Welcome and Introductions   

 
 

2. Membership Updates   
 
Members are asked to note that Cllr Brian Quinn has stood down from SACRE, 
and this has created a Vacancy for Committee D.  

Members are asked to note that Mr Alex Bird, of St Mary's School, has stood 
down and a new representative for Committee C will be confirmed in due 
course. 

 
3. Members’ Interests   

 
Members and officers must declare any pecuniary or personal interest in any 
business on the agenda. They should also make declarations at any stage such 
an interest becomes apparent during the meeting. Consideration should be 
given to leaving the meeting if the nature of the interest warrants it. If in doubt, 
contact Democratic Services before the meeting. 

 
4. Minutes of the Previous Meeting  (Pages 5 - 10) 

 
Members are asked to agree the minutes of the meeting held on 20 June 2022 
as a correct record. 

 
5. Agreed Syllabus Update  (Verbal Report) 

 
Karen Hammond, External Advisor, to give a verbal update to the SACRE on the 
Agreed Syllabus and training. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 
6. Part II Matters   

 
Members are asked to indicate at this stage if they wish the meeting to consider 
bringing into Part I any items on the Part II agenda. 

 
7. Exclusion of Press and Public   

 
The Council is asked to consider in respect of the following item whether the 
public, including the press, should be excluded from the meeting on the grounds 
of exemption under Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, 
as indicated below, and because, in all the circumstances of the case, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption of that information outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information. 

Exempt: paragraph 2, Identity of an individual 

 
8. Results in Public Examinations  (Pages 11 - 12) 

 
Report by the Assistant Director of Education and Skills. 

The report informs SACRE of the unvalidated/unchecked data on Religious 
Education exam results for West Sussex this year. 

SACRE is asked to note the report. 

 
Part I 

 
9. Update from Assistant Director of Education and Skills  (Verbal Report) 

 
Paul Wagstaff, Assistant Director of Education and Skills, to give a verbal update 
to SACRE. 

 
10. SACRE Annual Report  (To Be Tabled) 

 
Karen Hammond to give a verbal update to the SACRE on progress of the work 
by the sub-groups on the Annual Report and Development Plan. 

 
Working Lunch (12pm to 1pm) 

Members to split into breakout groups to discuss the Development Plan and 
Self-Evaluation documents in relation to the SACRE Annual Report. 

11. Inclusive Assemblies and Collective Worship  (Pages 13 - 26) 
 
Members of the Council are asked to consider the attached discussion document 
prepared by Mr Edmondson on inclusive assemblies and collective worship. 

 
12. Introduction from Dr Peter Hemmings   

 

Page 2



Dr Peter Hemmings of the University of Surrey would like to advise SACRE of his 
research work on Religious Education matters and his ideas for future work. 

 
13. Dates of Future Meetings   

 
The date of the next meeting is 27 February 2023. 

Future meeting dates are:  

         19 June 2023 
         20 November 2023 
         26 February 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To all members of the Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education 
 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education 
 
20 June 2022 – At a meeting of the Standing Advisory Council on Religious 
Education held at 10.30 am at County Hall, Chichester and via Microsoft Teams.  
Virtual participants are indicated with an asterisk below. 

 
Committee A 

 
Mrs Bell – Jewish 
Mr Edmondson – Humanists UK 
Mrs Flood – Roman Catholic* 
Mrs Jones – Baha’i 
Mr Sheldon – Baptist Union 
Mr Syed - Muslim 
Major Warner – Salvation Army 

 
Committee B 

 
Mrs Black – Church of England* 
Rev Higgins – Church of England 
Mr Simpson – Church of England 
Mrs Smith (Vice-Chairman) – Church of England 

 
Committee C 

 
Ms Barker – Teacher Representative* 
Mr Bird - Teacher Representative (Primary) 
Mr Cornford – NASUWT, the Teacher’s Union 
Ms Elphick – Teacher Representative (Special) 
Rev Millwood – Teacher Representative (Secondary) 

 
Committee D 

 
Cllr Ali – Local Education Authority* 
Cllr Burgess – Local Education Authority 
Cllr Burrett (Chairman) – Local Education Authority 
Cllr Lord – Local Education Authority* 
Cllr Pendleton – Local Education Authority 
Cllr Quinn – Local Education Authority  

 
Co-optees 

 
Ms Tulloch* 

 
Apologies for Absence:  

 
Rev Higgin-Botham (United Reformed Church), Ms Hock (Quaker) and Rev 
Pitkeathly (Free Churches) (Committee A); Cllr Jupp (Local Education Authority) 
and Cllr Nagel (Local Education Authority) (Committee D) 

 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



Absent:  
 

Rev Carn (Methodist) and Mrs Ghundale (Sikh) (Committee A) 
 

Observing on behalf of the Hindu community: 
 
Mr Soni 

 
  

1.    Chairman’s Welcome and Introductions  
 
1.1        The Chairman welcomed all members of SACRE to the hybrid 
meeting being held in the Council Chamber and on-line.  He also 
welcomed Mr Soni, from the Hindu community, who was joining on-line to 
observe the meeting with a consideration to joining the membership. 
  

2.    Membership Updates  
 
2.1        The Chairman welcomed Mr Syed who had agreed to return as the 
Muslim representative on Committee A.   
  

3.    Members’ Interests  
 
3.1     No interests were declared. 
  

4.    Minutes of the last meeting  
 
4.1        Resolved – that the minutes of the meeting held on 21 March 2022 
be approved as a correct record and that they be signed by the Chairman. 
  
4.2        Ms Barker updated under point 22.3 that there were other union 
representatives interested in joining SACRE but due to cover difficulties in 
schools they were unable to attend.  Unions were putting forward cases 
for additional facilities time and it was hoped there might be a solution by 
the next meeting. 

  
4.3        Mrs Hammond reported that the action under point 25.5 was still 
outstanding but it was still intended for her to meet with Ms Tulloch. 

  
4.4        Under point 27.2 Mrs Hammond reported that work on engaging the 
Youth Cabinet could begin now that the elections were over. 

  
4.5        Under point 28.1, Mr Syed asked whether there was data on how 
many people from world religions were teaching religious education in 
schools.  It was confirmed that information was not available but 
Mrs Hammond agreed to include a request for information in the 
questionnaire being circulated to schools to see if that information could 
be gathered. 

  
4.6        Under point 29.1 Mrs Smith reported that responding to 
Mr Hemming had been delayed but was now progressing. 
  

5.    Still Standing Report  
 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4



5.1        Mrs Hammond introduced the item highlighting that it was an 
interesting report with lots of comments and recommendations. 
  
5.2        SACRE members felt many aspects and recommendations of the 
report had been picked up in previous discussions, eg funding, teaching 
approach, title, academies, etc, but it was felt that the document could be 
pertinent for the self-evaluation work taking place and could help 
contribute to the next version of the Agreed Syllabus.   
  
5.3        It was agreed that SACRE membership needed to be representative 
of the religious make-up of the county and it could also be worth 
considering academy representation.  Academy trusts can use their own 
plan for the teaching of religious education but if they could be 
encouraged to use the Agreed Syllabus that would be a good outcome. 
  
5.4        Resolved – that SACRE welcomed the report and would consider its 
contents within the self-evaluation work for the Annual Report, 
Development Plan and future Agreed Syllabus.  
  

6.    Agreed Syllabus Update  
 
6.1        Mrs Hammond reported that a primary training session on “How do 
we assess good quality RE” had taken place on 14 June 2022 led by 
herself, Mrs Black and Freya Breathnach.  The meeting had been attended 
by 19 teachers although more had booked on but had needed to give 
apologies closer to the time, but all asked for information from the 
training.  Evaluation comments were being compiled but it was felt it had 
been a successful session. 
  
6.2        Mrs Hammond thanked Mrs Black and Freya Breathnach for their 
commitment to the three training sessions which had all been successful.   
  
6.3        Discussion at the training session raised that information on SACRE 
and what facilities could be provided to schools would be welcomed.  No 
training was planned for the next academic year but the idea previously 
raised of running three locality based SACRE fairs, where teachers could 
interact with faith leaders and members of SACRE, was welcomed. 
  
6.4        Discussion was also given to running a Youth Voice conference for 
young people.  This had run for four years prior to the pandemic, being 
held in the summer term.  The last event had attendees from 14 
secondary schools.  It was acknowledged that it took about a year of 
preparation to run the Youth Voice conference.  It was agreed that to start 
working on a conference was not feasible with the pressures on SACRE of 
the Annual Report and the Development Plan.  Mrs Smith suggested she 
pull together a costing proposal with Mrs Hammond to share with SACRE 
members.  Several SACRE members offered free facilities for the Youth 
Voice conference and the fairs. 
  

7.    The 2022 RE Report Card  
 
7.1        The Chairman introduced the report which he felt was very mixed 
and contradicted some of the information in the Still Standing report. 
  

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



7.2        Rev Millwood reported that she was having trouble filling two 
vacancies at her school with RE specialist teachers and was having to 
consider looking at non-specialist teachers.  Discussion highlighted that 
recruitment of teachers had been very difficult this year and specialist RE 
teachers were the hardest to recruit.  To become a specialist teacher in RE 
candidates needed to have a degree in RE or Humanities.  Many 
universities did not run these courses due to low demand. 
  
7.3        The meeting discussed where the problem with training laid.  It was 
felt that RE was not considered a key subject in the curriculum from as 
early as Key Stage 3 and its importance was diminished by other 
curriculum pressures.  Additionally young people could not see such a 
clear future career path from RE and Humanities studies.  Mr Wagstaff 
suggested that perhaps SACRE could engage with the bodies who provided 
additional support and training to new teachers to enhance RE training. 
  
7.4        It was recognised there could not be a quick resolution to the 
recruitment problem. 
  

8.    SACRE Annual Report  
 
8.1        Mrs Hammond reported that two Zoom meetings had taken place on 
11 and 15 May for the sub-group work but had not been well attended.  
She reminded SACRE members that they needed to be proactive and 
involved to help develop a SACRE vision, to show what SACRE stands for 
and to prepare for the future. Mrs Hammond agreed to resend her email 
on the sub-groups round again. 
  
8.2        Mrs Hammond could not confirm the timeline for the Annual Report 
but hoped it would be after the October 2022 half term so that the 
summer exam results could be digested.  Other information needed would 
be information on how performance is in schools, not just exam results 
but delivery and support, what is happening in schools with collective 
worship, and SIAMS reports for faith schools.  It was considered whether 
all SACRE members could research a few school websites each to collate 
information rather than troubling schools for the information. 
  
8.3        Mrs Hammond also suggested that to raise the profile of SACRE 
thought could be given to producing a SACRE newsletter to send to 
schools and perhaps a SACRE website. 
  

9.    White Paper on Education  
 
9.1        Mrs Hammond introduced the item by informing SACRE that the 
White Paper published on 28 March had four key recommendations but the 
element that had most impact for SACRE was that by 2030 all children 
would benefit from being taught in families of schools or academy trusts.  
However, it was thought that the teaching of religious education would 
remain unchanged and would continue as existing.   
  
9.2        Academies are required to deliver religious education but do not 
have to follow the Agreed Syllabus, however Mrs Hammond reported that 
she was aware that some academy schools were following the West 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



Sussex Agreed Syllabus.  It was agreed that SACRE needed to be 
proactive with schools to encourage the delivery of the Agreed Syllabus. 
  
9.3        Mr Wagstaff told SACRE that how it engages with maintained 
schools, academies and MATS going forward could raise the profile of the 
West Sussex Agreed Syllabus.  The Development Plan needs to build in 
ways to ensure that all schools can see that SACRE is adding value. 
  

10.    Update from Assistant Director of Education and Skills  
 
10.1     Mr Wagstaff reported he was pleased to hear the update on the 
primary training event and the positive feedback.  The Teaching School 
Hub is a key network for professional development of teachers. 
  
10.2     Mr Wagstaff acknowledged the challenge of recruiting staff and 
informed SACRE that recruitment was covered in the Education and Skills 
Strategy which was currently being worked on with stakeholders.  It was 
hoped that when the Strategy was launched in early 2023 it would help 
work with key partnerships.  This could be an ideal opportunity for seeing 
the work of SACRE as part of a partnership going forward for the next 
three years. 
  

11.    NASACRE Conference  
 
11.1     Rev Pitkeathly had attended the NASACRE Conference but was 
unable to be at the meeting to give an update.  He had however shared a 
summary from NASACRE which Mrs Hammond agreed to circulate.  Any 
items for discussion could be picked up at the next meeting. 
  

12.    Any Other Business  
 
12.1     Mr Edmondson asked Mrs Hammond about a letter he had prepared 
for schools on humanism and asked if it could be circulated to schools.  
Mrs Hammond suggested that it would be better to incorporate the 
information into the document being prepared on all SACRE faiths and this 
was agreed. 
  

13.    Dates of Future Meetings  
 
13.1     SACRE noted that the next meeting would be held on 21 November 
2022 at County Hall, Chichester, with the hybrid option for joining being 
available for those who required it. 
 

The meeting ended at 12.35 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chairman 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 11

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



The case for non-religious, fully inclusive assemblies in UK schools 

The School Standards and Framework Act 1998 requires that each pupil in 
attendance at a community, foundation or voluntary school shall on each school 
day take part in an act of collective worship … wholly or mainly of a broadly 
Christian character. 

However, it also states that the circumstances relating to the family backgrounds 
of the pupils … are relevant for determining the character of the collective 
worship. 

All community schools and most other schools1 will be attended by pupils from 
non-religious families. Also, many pupils in all schools will identify as non-
religious and/or non-Christian. They are required to attend assemblies, where 
most collective worship takes place. In order to accommodate these children and 
their parents, assemblies should not include religious worship.

To comply with the law as far as is reasonable, schools should arrange collective 
worship for those pupils and teachers who wish to opt in, e.g. during break time, 
extra-curricular visits to places of worship, prayer rooms, before or after school 
hours. In some schools, there might be no demand for collective worship.

Assemblies are valued by teachers, parents and pupils. They should be non-
religious and inclusive (for example see the website Assemblies for All). These 
assemblies would incorporate values shared by religious and non-religious 
people alike. 

Non-religious, inclusive assemblies would free teachers of any obligation to 
conduct religious worship or force2 pupils to participate. Non-religious parents 
would also welcome them.3 

Inclusive assemblies should be adopted because compelling children to take part 
in a daily act of collective worship is immoral, in the universal sense that 
morality is concerned with the promotion of wellbeing. It also contravenes the 
European Convention on Human Rights, the UN Convention on the Rights of the 
Child, the UN Declaration of Human Rights4. 

1 Up to 11% of parents are forced to send their children to faith schools against their wishes. 
https://inews.co.uk/news/education/faith-schools-families-choice-religious-school-
1160733?fbclid=IwAR35Raq3uguY-BOmwc8meMglYKvAY6wo6aIrLSUblh-nzrN-qmv9W9IV4Eo 
2 The Framework Act 1988: each pupil … shall on each school day take part in an act of collective worship … 
The legal term “shall”, used in the 3rd person, means “must”. 
3 https://humanists.uk/campaigns/schools-and-education/collective-worship/ 
Although parents have the right to withdraw their children from collective worship, this is rarely done; this 
could be due to fear of ostracization and/or the perceived value of assemblies (see, for example, 
https://www.secularism.org.uk/opinion/2014/11/parents-perspective-the-collective-worship-dilemma). Also, 
school assemblies are valued for other reasons. Children under 16 have no right to withdraw themselves. 
4 “Children should have freedom of thought, conscience and belief”, as guaranteed under Article 9 of the 
European Convention of Human Rights and Article 12 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the 
Child. Human rights are both moral and legal rights. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 11

https://assembliesforall.org.uk/
https://inews.co.uk/news/education/faith-schools-families-choice-religious-school-1160733?fbclid=IwAR35Raq3uguY-BOmwc8meMglYKvAY6wo6aIrLSUblh-nzrN-qmv9W9IV4Eo
https://inews.co.uk/news/education/faith-schools-families-choice-religious-school-1160733?fbclid=IwAR35Raq3uguY-BOmwc8meMglYKvAY6wo6aIrLSUblh-nzrN-qmv9W9IV4Eo
https://humanists.uk/campaigns/schools-and-education/collective-worship/
https://www.secularism.org.uk/opinion/2014/11/parents-perspective-the-collective-worship-dilemma


The current WSCC guidelines5 promote collective worship and are incompatible 
with the content of our agreed syllabus, e.g. mutual respect, diversity, equality, 
social cohesion, morality, justice, as well as our intended Worldviews approach. 
Instead, they should promote inclusive assemblies but also include advice on 
collective worship in schools where there is a demand. 

LEAs are bound by the Education Act 1996 and the School Standards and 
Framework Act 1998 (see Appendix 1); however, legal penalties for promoting 
inclusive assemblies are so unlikely as to be ignored. It should be noted that 
WSCC has already broken the same law by appointing a Humanist as a full 
member of SACRE; there have been no penalties. The law is currently being 
broken by a large proportion of schools and is unenforceable.6 Indeed, parents 
recently won a legal challenge in the High Court against Burford Primary School 
for forcing their children to attend acts of worship.7 Also, SACREs cannot even 
advise their LEAs regarding the frequency of collective worship.8 LEAs’ 
impotence to enforce the law is visible to all schools. 

With the decline of Christianity and religion generally9, the law concerning 
collective worship has no legitimacy. For many people, reverence for God(s), 
upon which religious worship is founded, has been replaced by a reverence for 
human rights, civic institutions, family life, the natural world, etc. 

Non-religious inclusive assemblies are supported by numerous organisations: 
religious (Christian, Sikh, Buddhist, Jewish, Hindu), teachers (NAT, ATL, CULRE, 
NUT, NASUWT), head teachers (NAHT), local government (LGA), WASACRE, RE 
inspectors (AREIAC), parents (NCPTA) and others (e.g. SEO, VEC).10 

The role of SACRE regarding collective worship is briefly mentioned in the DfE 
Circular 1/9411. It refers to SACRE’s role of advising the LEA on making provision 
for collective worship, i.e. making sure it takes place, nothing more. This is a 
hopeless task that has produced fudged guidance on how schools can essentially 
avoid religious worship, when read between the lines. Even so, the majority of 
schools have chosen to ignore it and break the law on a daily basis. 

The role of SACRE is to give advice, which the LEA may or may not choose to 
follow. Furthermore, SACRE can advise the LEA on other matters, e.g. inclusive 
assemblies. 

WSCC can continue to provide outdated immoral guidance to schools, or it can 
proactively encourage fully inclusive assemblies, ahead of the inevitable changes 

5 Here is a link to the current WSCC guidelines, including my comments.  
6 Schools breaking the law regarding Collective Worship. Humanists UK report. 
7 Parents Lee and Lizanne Harris successfully challenge compulsory collective worship in school assembly on 
human rights grounds. 
8 OFSTED reports have not referenced collective worship since 2004. 
9 https://humanists.uk/campaigns/religion-and-belief-some-surveys-and-statistics/ 
10 Labour Party Policy Review, The School Curriculum, Response from the British Humanist Association, p4 
11 DfE Circular 1/94 Religious Education and Collective Worship 

Page 14

Agenda Item 11

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/31/part/II/chapter/VI#:%7E:text=5%2D7).-,Religious%20worship,-70
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/31/part/II/chapter/VI#:%7E:text=5%2D7).-,Religious%20worship,-70
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1y3EgK1gbGMtD_vW7LfnHliX695FKUfYr/edit?usp=sharing&ouid=115962890774490061465&rtpof=true&sd=true
https://humanists.uk/campaigns/schools-and-education/collective-worship/#:%7E:text=Very%20frequently%20schools,collective%20worship%20provision.
https://humanists.uk/2019/11/20/school-concedes-in-collective-worship-legal-case-will-provide-alternative-assemblies/
https://humanists.uk/campaigns/religion-and-belief-some-surveys-and-statistics/
https://humanists.uk/wp-content/uploads/Labour-policy-review-school-curriculum-BHA-response-to-initial-questionaire.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/281929/Collective_worship_in_schools.pdf


to the law.12 There are only positive consequences for the residents of West 
Sussex, SACREs, and other LEAs that follow our lead. 

The proposed alternative guidelines (see Appendix 2) are based on the following 
ideas: 

• School assemblies, mealtimes, lessons, and visits from religious leaders
should not include religious worship, e.g. praying, singing hymns, religious
readings.

• Assembly themes should be inclusive, interesting, and concern moral,
personal, social and environmental issues (see assembliesforall.org.uk).

• Alternative arrangements should be made for pupils and staff who wish to
participate in religious worship, e.g. allocated rooms for collective or
individual worship, reflection13, meditation; extracurricular activities, etc.

The moral authority and credibility of SACRE is at stake. 

There is nothing to lose but much to gain. 

12 https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2878  In the meantime, justice delayed is justice denied. 
13 Replacing collective worship with collective reflection is of no educational value, is unnatural for most 
teachers and children, and will also be ignored by many schools. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 11

https://assembliesforall.org.uk/
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2878


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1: School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

Section 70: Requirements relating to collective worship. 

(1) Subject to section 71, each pupil in attendance at a community, foundation
or voluntary school shall on each school day take part in an act of collective
worship.

(2) Subject to section 71, in relation to any community, foundation or voluntary
school—

(a) the [local authority] and the governing body shall exercise their
functions with a view to securing, and

(b) the head teacher shall secure, that subsection (1) is complied with.

(2) Subject to paragraph 4, the required collective worship shall be wholly or
mainly of a broadly Christian character.

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), collective worship is of a broadly
Christian character if it reflects the broad traditions of Christian belief without
being distinctive of any particular Christian denomination.

(4) Not every act of collective worship in the school required by section 70 need
comply with sub-paragraph (2) provided that, taking any school term as a
whole, most such acts which take place in the school do comply with that sub-
paragraph.

(5) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (4)—

(a) the extent to which (if at all) any acts of collective worship required by
section 70 which do not comply with sub-paragraph (2) take place in the
school,

(b) the extent to which any act of collective worship in the school which
complies with sub-paragraph (2) reflects the broad traditions of Christian
belief, and

(c) the ways in which those traditions are reflected in any such act of
collective worship, shall be such as may be appropriate having regard to
any relevant considerations relating to the pupils concerned which fall to
be taken into account in accordance with sub-paragraph (6).

(6) Those considerations are—

(a) any circumstances relating to the family backgrounds of the pupils
which are relevant for determining the character of the collective worship
which is appropriate in their case

(b) their ages and aptitudes.

Page 17

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



(7) In this paragraph references to acts of collective worship in the school
include such acts which by virtue of paragraph 2(6) take place otherwise than on
the school premises.

Page 18

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



© West Sussex County Council    

Appendix 2: Proposed guidelines on inclusive assemblies and collective 
worship 

INCLUSIVE ASSEMBLIES 
AND COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 

IN SCHOOLS 

Guidance for West Sussex Community Schools 

Introduction 

Well-planned inclusive assemblies, where the school community or a part of it 
meet together, perform a variety of functions that are of benefit to pupils and 
staff. 

Most assemblies are attended by pupils and teachers with varying worldviews: 
Christian, non-Christian, and non-religious. For assemblies to be inclusive, there 
should be no collective worship. 
The law does not require the inclusion of collective worship in assemblies. 
However, it does state that the circumstances relating to the family backgrounds 
of the pupils must be taken into account. 

To comply with the law, as far as is reasonable, schools should arrange collective 
worship for those pupils and teachers who wish to opt in. 

Aims of inclusive assemblies 

• Create, nurture and sustain a sense of community, camaraderie and
belonging.

• Develop a positive school ethos that affirms the school's priorities, aspirations
and values.

• Contribute to personal, social and moral development.

• Develop core values: lessons in diversity, accountability, leadership, anti-
bullying.

• Provide a structured environment where pupils learn social discipline, respect
for others, listening skills, and appropriate audience participation.

• Deliver key messages, celebrate achievement, and correct antisocial
behaviour.

• Provide information about the school, including extracurricular activities.

• Build confidence through pupil involvement, e.g. sharing ideas, experiences,
stories.

• Set the tone, so pupils are focused, positive, calm, and ready to start the day.

• Foster cooperation between schools and the local community.

• Experience a short period of silence on special occasions, e.g. Remembrance
Day, bereavement of a pupil or member of staff.

Page 19

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



© West Sussex County Council    

• Mark important national and international commemorative days and
celebrations.

• Make senior staff visible.

“When I deliver an assembly, I strive to invite the students to consider their 
inner capabilities, their positive worth, their place in the community and 
their purpose for the week, and I do it from the touchstone of positive 
values. I then give them time to share what is important to them, to help 
them see that they are valued by the whole school community.” Melisha 
Trotman, Principal, Primary School 

PLANNING INCLUSIVE ASSEMBLIES 

The leadership team should work out the vision and values to communicate 
during assemblies. Ideally, the assembly curriculum should be planned seven to 
eight weeks ahead and run from topic to topic in a carefully sequenced way. 

Monday morning assembly is particularly important, as it should bring the whole 
school back together again after the weekend break and focus upon the week’s 
objectives. Other assemblies during the week build on these objectives. Schools 
should develop their own pattern of assemblies that will include whole school, 
key stage, year group and class assemblies. Also, the time of assembly will vary 
with purpose. 

Planning a school assembly is essential for success. Here are some tips on how 
to make school assembly exciting and fun for all concerned. 

Establish a Theme 

A theme will bring the whole assembly together into a cohesive whole that the 
audience can get behind. Is it an anti-bullying rally, or is the assembly 
associated with a recognized event or a day of significance? 

Introduce Interactive Elements 

The best school assemblies have interactive elements which involve pupils, 
even if in a small way. Asking questions and the use of music or multimedia 
can help draw pupils into the spirit of the event. 

Make it Engaging 

Assemblies should convey a message and teach pupils core values about life. 
To do that effectively requires the assembly to be engaging enough to keep 
their attention. When children become inattentive, it’s tough to make a 
connection and forge a lasting impression. 

Preparation is Key 

Before starting the assembly, any equipment used should be checked. Faulty 
microphones or visual equipment can dampen the enthusiasm of the room.  

Page 20

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



© West Sussex County Council    

Have clear expectations for behaviour during assemblies 

For example, students lined up before they enter the assembly room in quiet 
manner. Phones should be banned and there should be an expectation that 
students are fully engaged throughout. All staff in the assembly should work 
to support this. 

Set the appropriate atmosphere and tone: 

o A central focus, such as a display, that can help pupils think about the
theme of the assembly

o Music can help create a calm and reflective mood.

o Black-out or spot lighting help to make assembly time special.

o The leader seated appropriately as the pupils arrive for assembly.

o Adults modelling the behaviour that is expected of the pupils.

o Pupils being actively included in all aspects of the assembly.

Resources 

The website assembliesforall.org.uk describes hundreds of inclusive assemblies 
organised by calendar date, theme or organisation. Many have free materials. 

COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 

Many teachers, parents and pupils do not want to participate in collective 
worship. Consequently, some schools do not comply with the statutory 
requirements outlined below. Fortunately, these requirements are subject to the 
circumstances of pupils’ family backgrounds, which gives schools sufficient 
leeway to remove collective worship from assemblies, lessons, mealtimes, visits 
to places of worship, visits from religious leaders, and other curricular activities. 

Nevertheless, schools should make arrangements for those teachers and pupils 
who wish to take part in collective worship. These can include: 

• Prayer rooms/spaces for individual or collective worship/meditation during
break times, before or after school hours.

• Extra-curricular visits to places of worship.

If there is a demand for collective worship, it should be planned carefully, with 
sensitivity to the beliefs of all concerned. Separate groups may be necessary. 

Collective worship should be offered on a strictly opt-in basis. There should be 
no pressure for pupils or staff to participate. 

Schools following these guidelines will not need to apply for a determination.14 

14 The law provides a mechanism, called a “determination”, detailed below, for schools to opt out of collective 
worship of a broadly Christian nature. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2

https://assembliesforall.org.uk/


© West Sussex County Council    

Also, parents will not need to withdraw their children from collective worship.15 

STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS16 

All Schools 

• All pupils in attendance at a maintained school shall, on each school day, take
part in an act of collective worship.

• This may be a single act of worship or separate acts for pupils in different age
groups or in different school groups.

• It may take place at any time of the school day.

• Parents have the right to withdraw their children from worship

• Teachers have the right to withdraw from collective worship.

For Community schools 

• For community schools (not voluntary schools) the act of worship shall be
"wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character".

• Community schools may apply to the Standing Advisory Council for Religious
Education (SACRE) for a determination that worship in their school could be
other than wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character.

• Worship should take place on the school premises.

For Voluntary Schools 

• The type of worship to be provided in voluntary schools is the responsibility of
the Governors in line with Trust Deeds.

15 The law provides a mechanism, detailed below, for parents to withdraw their children from collective 
worship. 
16 Education Act 1996 and School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

Page 22

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/31/part/II/chapter/VI#:%7E:text=5%2D7).-,Religious%20worship,-70


© West Sussex County Council    

DETERMINATIONS 

A determination is a process whereby schools can apply to SACRE that their 
worship could be other than “wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character”. 

Which schools can apply to SACRE and for what? 

• Applications for a determination can be made only by community schools.

• Community schools may apply to SACRE for worship in the school to be other
than "wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character".

• They may apply on behalf of the whole school or groups of pupils in the
school.

• The considerations that may apply are:

“any circumstances relating to the family background of the pupils concerned
which are relevant for determining the character of the collective worship
which is appropriate in their case e.g. the faith of the family.”

How can a school apply to SACRE? 

• If any school in West Sussex is considering an application to SACRE, the
Headteacher should first contact the General Adviser (R.E.) who will be able to
explain the procedures.

• Before an application the Headteacher must consult the school's governing
body.

• The governors may wish, in turn, to seek the views of parents.

What form will worship take following a determination? 

• SACRE will give their determination in writing to the Headteacher and the
worship will have to be carried out in accordance with those instructions.

Page 23

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



© West Sussex County Council    

WITHDRAWAL 

The provision for parents to withdraw their children from collective worship was 
first put in place in the 1944 Education Act and has been re-enacted in 
subsequent acts of parliament since with little change. The original purpose was 
to allow parents who, for reasons of conscience, did not want their children to 
attend collective worship to withdraw them from attending. 

The Statutory Requirements 

Subsequent acts of parliament were brought together in the School Standards 
and Framework Act 1998. The provision for withdrawal is set out in section 71 
and subsequently amended by the 2006 Education and Inspections Act to 
include a clause about sixth form students. 

The main requirement is set out in subsection (1) 

(1A) If the parent of any pupil at a community, foundation or voluntary school 
other than a sixth-form pupil requests that they may be wholly or partly 
excused from attendance at religious worship at the school, the pupil shall 
be so excused until the request is withdrawn. 

(1B) If a sixth-form pupil requests that they may be wholly or partly excused 
from attendance at religious worship at a community, foundation or 
voluntary school, the pupil shall be so excused.” 

Summary of requirements 

• If a parent asks that a pupil should be wholly or partly excused from attending
collective worship, then the school must comply.

• Parents are not obliged to state their reasons for seeking withdrawal.

• Schools should not divulge information about withdrawal to other schools
without the agreement of the parents.

• This applies to all LA maintained schools – community and voluntary

If the request is to be partly excused, the school must make all reasonable 
attempts to comply but have the flexibility to deny the request if the logistics of 
agreeing makes it too difficult. 

A parent may request that a pupil be withdrawn from school premises to receive 
worship of a denominational nature. A school may comply so long as the LA is 
satisfied that this will not interfere with the child’s attendance at school other 
than at the beginning or end of the school day. 

A parent may request that, once the child has been legally withdrawn, a child 
receive collective worship of a denominational nature on school premises. The 
school is required to allow this request if: 

• the provision cannot be conveniently provided elsewhere;

Page 24

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



© West Sussex County Council    

• the school does not meet the costs;

• the school does not consider that because of the special circumstances it
would be unreasonable to do so.

There are some special conditions relating to boarders allowing them to attend a 
place of worship on Sundays or other days exclusively set apart for religious 
observance.  

A school continues to be responsible for any child withdrawn by its parents from 
collective worship unless the child is lawfully receiving collective worship 
elsewhere.  

Schools are required to set out the right of withdrawal in their prospectus. 

Advice for Schools 

What should a school do if a request is made? 

1. As this is a legal provision, the school should ask for any request for
withdrawal to be made in writing.

2. To avoid any misunderstanding a head teacher will find it helpful to establish
with a parent wanting to exercise the right of withdrawal:

• the religious issues about which the parent would object to their child being
taught and the elements of worship they would object to the child taking part;

• the practical implications of withdrawal;

• the circumstances in which the school can reasonably be expected to
accommodate parental wishes; and

• if the withdrawal is partial, whether the parent will require any advance notice
of such collective worship.

3. This should not affect the fact that parents do not have to state their reasons
for seeking withdrawal.

4. The school must then make arrangements to enable the withdrawal to take
place and ensure the health and safety of the pupil.

How to organise withdrawal? 

• The pupil’s health and safety are the most important responsibility of the
school.

• It would be normal for withdrawal to be exercised through the physical
withdrawal of the pupil from the place where the collective worship is taking
place.

Page 25

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



© West Sussex County Council    

• However, if both the parent and the school agree that the pupil could remain
physically present, there is nothing in the law to prevent this.

• It is good practice to ensure that the pupil is gainfully employed when
withdrawn; so, if they do not bring work from home, a check should be made
to ensure they have something to do.

If the pupil is withdrawn from worship, a number of organisational options are 
used by schools, such as: 

• the pupil works in the back of class and is supervised by that class teacher;

• the pupil woks in another classroom;

• the pupil works in a library and is supervised by the librarian or other adult;

• in smaller schools the pupil may sit outside the office and be supervised by
the office staff.

Page 26

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	8 Results in Public Examinations
	11 Inclusive Assemblies and Collective Worship
	RE doc
	The case for non-religious, fully inclusive assemblies in UK schools

	Appendix 1
	RE doc
	Appendix 1: School Standards and Framework Act 1998
	Section 70: Requirements relating to collective worship.


	Appendix 2
	RE doc
	Appendix 2: Proposed guidelines on inclusive assemblies and collective worship
	INCLUSIVE ASSEMBLIES
	AND COLLECTIVE WORSHIP
	IN SCHOOLS
	Introduction
	Aims of inclusive assemblies

	PLANNING INCLUSIVE ASSEMBLIES
	Establish a Theme
	Introduce Interactive Elements
	Make it Engaging
	Preparation is Key
	Have clear expectations for behaviour during assemblies
	Set the appropriate atmosphere and tone:
	Resources

	COLLECTIVE WORSHIP
	STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS2F
	All Schools
	For Community schools
	For Voluntary Schools

	DETERMINATIONS
	Which schools can apply to SACRE and for what?
	How can a school apply to SACRE?
	What form will worship take following a determination?

	WITHDRAWAL
	The Statutory Requirements
	The main requirement is set out in subsection (1)
	Summary of requirements
	Advice for Schools
	How to organise withdrawal?





